IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Case No. S224724

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Ct. of App. Case Nos. F065288 [Enriquez]; F065984 [Gutierrez]; F065481 [Ramos])

RAMIRO ENRIQUEZ, et al.

v.

(Super. Ct. Case No. BF127853A)

Defendants and Appellants.

Appeal from the Judgment of the Kern County Superior Court

The Honorable Michael E. Dellostritto, Judge Presiding

SUPREME COURT FILED

APPELLANT GABRIEL RAMOS'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MAR 28 2016

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

DONN GINOZA

State Bar No. 87125

FILED WITH PERMISSION

660 Fourth Street, #279

San Francisco, CA 94107 Telephone: (415) 846-3578

E-mail: donnginoza@yahoo.com

I.	THE DENT BECA	TRIAL YING AUSE S ORT T	COUITHE WESUBST	APPEAL ERRED BECAUSE IT ADOPTED RT'S ERRONEOUS REASONING IN WHEELER/BATSON MOTIONS AND FANTIAL EVIDENCE WAS LACKING TO ENDING OF NO DISCRIMINATORY
	A.	Prose	cutor's	-Shifting Inquiry When Challenging the s Peremptory Challenges of Members of Groups
	B.	The A	Anti-Di	scrimination Principle
	C.	The T	Trial Co	ourt's Finding of No Discriminatory Intent 24
		1.	Prima	a Facie Showing
		2.	The S	Selection Procedure
		3.	•	Panelists' Profiles and the Prosecutor's fications
			a.	No. 2852410
			b.	No. 2468219
			c.	No. 2547226

		d. No. 2291529
		e. No. 2723471
		f. No. 2647624
		g. No. 2510083
		h. No. 2408196
		i. No. 2732073
		j. No. 2632053
	4.	Comparative Analysis Argument
	5.	The Trial Court's Ruling
D.	The	Court of Appeal Committed <i>Purkett</i> Error 45
E.	The	Court of Appeal Committed <i>Lenix</i> Error 49
F.	Indiv Raci	Result of the Trial Court's Failure To Conduct idualized Analysis and Failure To Recognize 1 Stereotyping, the Court of Appeal Committed tes Error
	1.	The "Consistency" Theory
	2.	Gang Connections as Proxy for Race
	3.	No. 2468219 and No. 2647624 60
	4.	No. 2723471 and No. 2408196 63
	5.	Comparative Analysis 67

Ġ.	As a Result of the Trial Court's Reliance on a Fact Unsupported in the Record, the Court of Appeal Committed Snyder/Silva Error
H.	As a Result of the Trial Court Accepting a Justification Lacking in Content, the Court of Appeal Committed <i>Turner</i> Error
I.	As a Result of the Trial Court's Rejection of Comparative Analysis Borne of Unconscious Race Bias, the Court of Appeal Committed <i>Miller-El II/Snyder</i> Error
J.	As a Result of Failing To Consider Other Circumstances Undermining the Prosecutor's Credibility, the Court of Appeal Committed Miller-El II /Snyder Error
K.	By Failing To Reverse for the Representative Cross-Section Violation, the Court of Appeal Committed Wheeler Error
CONCLUSI	ON 86
CERTIFICA	TE OF COMPLIANCE 88
CERTIFICA	TE OF SERVICE BY MAIL BY ATTORNEY89

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>Page</u>
Cases
Arlington Heights v. Metropolitan Housing Development Corp. (1977) 429 U.S. 252
Atkins v. Texas (1945) 325 U.S. 398
Batson v. Kentucky (1986) 476 U.S. 79
Brant v. California Dairies (1935) 4 Cal.2d 128
Brecht v. Abrahamson (1993) 507 U.S. 619
Burks v. Borg (9th Cir. 1994) 27 F.3d 1424
California Teachers Assn. v. Public Employment Relations Bd. (2009) 169 Cal.App.4th 1076
Cobb v. Hartenstein (1915) 47 Utah 174 [152 P. 424]
Collins v. Rice (9th Cir. 2003) 348 F.3d 1082 54, 70
Crittenden v. Chappell (9th Cir. 2015) 804 F.3d 998
Crocker National Bank v. City and County of San Francisco (1989) 49 Cal.3d 881
Donovan v. RRL Corp. (2001) 26 Cal.4th 261
EEOC v. Abercrombie & Fitch Stores, Inc. (2015) U.S [135 S.Ct. 2028]
EEOC v. Ethan Allen, Inc. (2d Cir. 1994) 44 F.3d 116
EEOC v. Sears Roebuck and Co. (4th Cir. 2001) 243 F.3d 846 69

Emerson v. State (1993) 851 S.W.2d 269
Grano v. Dept. of Dev. of City of Columbus (6th Cir. 1983) 699 F.2d 836
Hernandez v. New York (1991) 500 U.S. 352
Hernandez v. Texas, (1954) 347 U.S. 475
Holland v. Illinois (1991) 493 U.S. 474
In re George T. (2004) 33 Cal.4th 620
J. E. B. v. Alabama ex rel. T.B. (1994) 511 U.S. 127
Johnson v. California (2005) 545 U.S. 162
Johnson v. Vasquez (9th Cir. 1993) 3 F.3d 1327
Kesser v. Cambra (9th Cir. 2006) 465 F.3d 351 16, 18, 23, 66
Korematsu v. United States (1944) 323 U.S. 214
McClain v. Prunty (9th Cir. 2000) 217 F.3d 1209 53, 73
McCormick v. State (Ind. 2004) 803 N.E.2d 1108 16, 55, 62, 67
McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green (1973) 411 U.S. 792
Miller-El v. Cockrell (2003) 537 U.S. 322 10, 15, 18, 55
Miller-El v. Dretke (2005) 545 U.S. 231 passim
New Ice State Co. v. Liebman (1932) 286 U.S. 262
Overton v. Newton (2d Cir. 2002) 295 F.3d 27 56
Paulino v. Castro (9th Cir. 2004) 371 F.3d 1083
Payton v. Kearse (1998) 329 S.C. 51 [495 S.E.2d 205]

People v. Alvarez (1996) 14 Cal.4th 155
People v. Arias (1996) 13 Cal.4th 92
People v. Bonilla (2007) 41 Cal.4th 313
People v. Calvin (2008) 159 Cal.App.4th 1377
People v. Cromer (2001) 24 Cal.4th 889
People v. Drew (1978) 22 Cal.3d 333
People v. Elizalde (2015) 61 Cal.4th 523
People v. Fuentes (1991) 54 Cal.3d 707
People v. Gutierrez (2002) 28 Cal.4th 1083
People v. Hall (1983) 35 Cal.3d 161
People v. Hudson (2001) 195 Ill.2d 117 [745 N.E.2d 1246] 17
People v. Hutchins (2007) 147 Cal.App.4th 992
People v. Johnson (1978) 22 Cal.3d 296
People v. Johnson (1989) 47 Cal.3d 1994 9, 11, 23, 49, 50, 66, 75
People v. Johnson (2003) 30 Cal.4th 1302
People v. Lenix (2008) 44 Cal.4th 602 2, 13, 17, 18, 24, 48, 49, 75
People v. Mai (2013) 57 Cal.4th 986
People v. Maury (2003) 30 Cal.4th 342
People v. McDermott (2002) 28 Cal.4th 946
People v. Motton (1985) 39 Cal.3d 596

People v. Prunty (2015) 62 Cal.4th 59
People v. Reynoso (2003) 31 Cal.4th 903 10, 23-25, 55, 66, 68
People v. Schmeck (2005) 37 Cal.4th 240
People v. Shelton (2006) 37 Cal.4th 759
People v. Silva (2001) 25 Cal.4th 345 2, 12, 23, 66, 72, 82
People v. Snow (1987) 44 Cal.3d 216
People v. Souza (1994) 9 Cal.4th 224
People v. Tapia (1994) 25 Cal.App.4th 984
People v. Tran (2013) 215 Cal.App.4th 1207
People v. Trevino (1985) 39 Cal.3d 667 9, 12, 56, 63, 64, 69, 74, 78
People v. Turner (1986) 42 Cal.3d 711 passim
People v. Turner (1994) 8 Cal.4th 137
People v. Turner (2001) 90 Cal.App.4th 413 55, 59, 62
People v. Walker (1988) 47 Cal.3d 605
People v. Ward (2005) 36 Cal.4th 186
People v. Wheeler (1978) 22 Cal.3d 258
Pruneyard Shopping Center v. Robins (1980) 447 U.S. 74
Purkett v. Elem (1995) 514 U.S. 765
Rector v. State (1994) 213 Ga.App. 450 [444 S.E.2d 862] 16, 61
Reeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Products, Inc. (2000) 530 U.S. 133 17

Rice v. Collins (2006) 546 U.S. 333
Riley v. Taylor (3d Cir. 2001) 277 F.3d 261 17, 19, 21, 28, 67
Serrano v. Priest (1971) 5 Cal.3d 584
Smith v. Texas (1940) 311 U.S. 128
Snyder v. Louisiana (2008) 552 U.S. 472
St. Mary's Honor Center v. Hicks (1993) 509 U.S. 502
State v Novembrino (1987) 105 N.J. 95 [519 A.2d 820]
State v. King (Wis.Ct.App. 1997) 215 Wis.2d 295 [572 N.W.2d 530]
State v. Lucas (2001) 199 Ariz. 366 [18 P.3d 160]
Stubbs v. Gomez (9th Cir. 1999) 189 F.3d 1099
Swain v. Alabama (1965) 380 U.S. 202
Theil v. Southern Pacific Co. (1946) 328 U.S. 217
Thurman v. Yellow Freight Systems, Inc. (6th Cir. 1996) 90 F.3d 1160
United States v. Bishop (9th Cir. 1992) 959 F.2d 820
United States v. Esparza-Gonzalez (9th Cir. 2005) 422 F.3d 897 57
United States v. Leon (1987) 468 U.S. 897
Washington v. Davis (1976) 426 U.S. 229
Wilkerson v. Texas (1990) 493 U.S. 924

Administrative Decisions

Beverly Hills Unified School Dist. (1990) PERB Dec. No. 789 22
Complete Carrier Services, Inc. (1998) 325 NLRB 565
Delta Gas, Inc. (1987) 283 NLRB 39171
Frances House, Inc. (1996) 322 NLRB 516
Goldblatt Bros. Inc. (1962) 135 NLRB 153
Republic Aviation Corp. (1945) 61 NLRB 397
California Statutes
Evidence Code
Section 780
Health and Safety Code
Section 11378
Penal Code
Section 186.22 8
Section 187
Section 189
Section 245
Section 487
Section 496
Section 664

CONTRACTOR OF THE PROPERTY OF

Section 12021
Section 12022.53 8
Vehicle Code
Section 10851
California Constitution
Article I, section 16
Federal Statutes
29 U.S.C.A., section 160(c)
United States Constitution
Sixth Amendment
Fourteenth Amendment
Other Authorities
California Department of Justice's 2010 Annual Report to the Legislature
Census Reporter, at https://censusreporter.org
Coles, Mixed Up Questions of Fact and Law: Illinois Standards of Appellate Review in Civil Cases Following the 1997 Amendment To Supreme Court Rule 341 (2003) 28 So. Illinois Univ. L.J. 13
Cummings & Monti, Gangs: The Origins and Impact of Contemporary Youth Gangs in the United States (1993)

Hofwegen, Unjust and Ineffective: A Critical
Look at California's STEP Act (2009)
18 So. Calif. Interdisciplinary L.J. 679
Losen and Gillespie (2012) Opportunities Suspended:
The Disparate Impact of Disciplinary Exclusion From School 59
Massey, "Residential Segregation and Neighborhood
Conditions in U.S. Metropolitan Areas" in Smelser, Wilson,
Mitchell, eds. (2001) vol. 1, America Becoming: Racial Trends
and Their Consequences
Page, Batson's Blind-Spot: Unconscious Stereotyping and the
Peremptory Challenge (2005) 85 B.U.L. Rev. 155 14, 21, 86
Peters, The Meaning, Measure, and Misuse of
Standards of Review (2009) 13:1 Lewis & Clark L. Rev. 233 21
S. Cummings & D. Monti, Gangs: The Origin and Impact of
Contemporary Youth Gangs in the United States (1993) 59
State Bar of California website
Steele & Cohn-Vargas, <i>Identity Safe Classrooms</i> (2013)
Storie & Comi Targas, morning saje Crassicolis (2015)
Yoshino, California's Criminal Gang Enhancements
(2008) 18:1 Univ. So. Cal. Rev. of Law & Social Justice 117 58

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, |

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

RAMIRO ENRIQUEZ, et al.

Defendants and Appellants.

Case No. S224724

Ct. of App. Case Nos. F065288 [Enriquez]; F065984 [Gutierrez]; F065481 [Ramos])

(Super. Ct. Case No. BF127853A)

ISSUE PRESENTED

The Court has directed appellant Gabriel Ramos to address the following issue:

Did the Court of Appeal err in upholding the trial court's denial of defendants' Wheeler/Batson¹ motions?

INTRODUCTION

During the jury selection, the prosecutor exercised peremptory challenges to ten of eleven Hispanic prospective jurors in the jury panel. The three Hispanic co-defendants joined in a *Wheeler/Batson* motion. The trial court found a prima facie case under the *Batson* rubric,

¹ Batson v. Kentucky (1986) 476 U.S. 79 (Batson); People v. Wheeler (1978) 22 Cal.3d 258 (Wheeler).

considered the prosecutor proffered explanations for the challenges, and denied the motion. The Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's ruling.

Appellant asserts that the Court of Appeal committed error under Purkett v. Elem (1995) 514 U.S. 765 (Purkett) by combining the second and third steps of the Batson analysis as a result of only requiring the prosecutor to have offered race-neutral reasons and avoiding inquiry into evidence on the appellants' part challenging the prosecutor's credibility, including comparative evidence. It committed error under *People v. Lenix* (2008) 44 Cal.4th 602 (*Lenix*) by refusing to consider comparative evidence on review at all. By adopting the trial court's ruling containing unsupported factual findings and legal errors, the Court of Appeal also committed error. The trial court erred by employing a "global" theory of decision. (People v. Fuentes (1991) 54 Cal.3d 707 (Fuentes).) Individual juror-by-juror analysis was avoided as to voir dire of the panelists' experience with gangs or relationships to gang members, and such nexus in the form of residence and personal relations was employed as a proxy for race. The trial court erred by accepting a justification based on a nonexistent potential scheduling hardship of an excused Hispanic panelist and speculative and unsupported justifications regarding a potential adverse reaction by two panelists to a prosecution witness. (*People v. Silva* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 345 (*Silva*).) The trial court erred in its rejection of comparative juror arguments. It failed to conduct a "sincere and reasoned" (*People v. Hall* (1983) 35 Cal.3d 161 (*Hall*)) analysis of the totality of circumstances supporting the appellants' case in order to determine if appellants had met their burden of proof that the justifications were not persuasive. (*Miller-El v. Dretke* (2005) 545 U.S. 231, 251-252 (*Miller-El II*), quoting *Batson*, *supra*, 476 U.S. at pp. 96-97.) With deference unwarranted, the record as a whole supports a finding that the prosecutor's challenges were "because of" race. Lastly, the trial court denied appellants their *Wheeler* right to a representative cross-section in the petit jury under the California Constitution, article I, section 16, based on the systematic exclusion of Hispanic jurors.

Appellant Ramos begins with a review of the *Wheeler/Baston* jurisprudence regarding the standard of review before turning to analysis of the trial court's ruling and explanation of the Court of Appeal's errors in affirming that ruling.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Sometime after 11:00 p.m. on July 29, 2011, appellants Rene
Gutierrez and Ramiro Enriquez were driven by Kyle Fuller to the Western
Nights Motel in Bakersfield for a drug party. (2RT 367-384, 502, 519;

3RT 622-633.)² Enriquez and Gutierrez were members of a Sureno gang subset, Varrio West Side Shafter, based in Shafter. (7RT 1759-1760; 9RT 2363-2364, 2442, 2461.)

Appellant Gabriel Ramos worked at the motel and helped make a room available. (3RT 706; 6RT 1516, 1680; 7RT 1841; 8RT 2029-2030.) Ramos was a member of another Sureno subset, the Varrio Bakers gang, based in Bakersfield. (7RT 1759-1760; 9RT 2366.)

Gabriel Trevino, a member of Varrio Wasco Rifa, a Sureno subset based in Wasco, joined the group. (6RT 1682-1683; 7RT 1753, 1758, 1808, 1841.) Trevino had committed some non-violent offenses that earned him some "juice" (a reputation) in Wasco. (7ART 1754-1756, 1773.)

Clarence Langston II arrived at the motel on his bicycle. (1RT 108-109.) Langston is African American with no gang affiliation at the time. (1RT 147, 212; 3RT 628.) Langston went there looking for his wife, who was conducting some business with a friend as a "free woman" in a room Langston had rented. (1RT 117, 148, 196-197.) The couple

² Throughout this brief the following abbreviations are used: "RT" (Reporter's Transcript), "ART" (Augmented Reporter's Transcript); "CT" (Clerk's Transcript).

lived elsewhere, but Langston's wife was a frequent customer at the motel. (1RT 197, 248.)

An argument ensued between Ramos and Langston. (1RT 109-110; 2RT 335-339; 6RT 1685-1686.) Trevino saw Langston approach Ramos aggressively. (7RT 1947.) Trevino heard Langston get on his cellphone and loudly say "get that thing ready" as he prepared to leave the motel. (6RT 1686-1687; 7RT 1855.) Trevino interpreted the street-language to mean Langston was going to get a firearm. (6RT 1687.)

Ramos beckoned to Gutierrez and Enriquez, who were observing from the second floor balcony, and said, "Southside homies come down." (6RT 1687, 1689, 1694.) In the hospital after the shooting Langston told a Bakersfield police officer that Ramos yelled to someone in the SUV to "get the Cuete," which is a slang term for a firearm. (2RT 284-285, 293-296.) Fuller and Trevino denied hearing such a statement. (3RT 710; 7RT 1869.)³ At trial, Langston did not testify he made that statement. Ramos told Trevino he was going to get a gun to defend himself and left the motel on foot. (6RT 1691-1693.) In the meantime, Langston rode off on his bicycle. (1RT 112-113, 118.)

³ There was no other evidence through the prior statement or through Langston at trial that placed anyone in the vehicle at the time this statement was allegedly made.

After Ramos had departed but before he returned, Gutierrez, Enriquez, Trevino, and Fuller got into Fuller's vehicle. (6RT 1692.)

Langston was spotted on a street nearby. (6RT 1703-1704.) Gutierrez got out of the vehicle and fired a sawed-off shotgun two to three times at Langston, striking him with numerous shot-gun pellets. (1RT 121-122, 235; 3RT 624, 632, 655-656, 740.) No gang statements were made during the assault. (6RT 1704-1705.)

The prosecution's gang expert opined that Ramos was an "active" member of Varrio Bakers. (9RT 2382-2384, 2462.) Ramos has a "Bakers" tattoo on his back, a "13" tattoo on his forearm, and has a gang moniker. (9RT 2392, 2394.) Aside from the current offenses, as to which the expert stated Ramos had no choice as a gang member other than respond to Langston's act of disrespect, the expert's only other source of information regarding Ramos's gang activity came from two officers and four police incident reports. (9RT 2382-2284, 2386-2387, 2465-2467.)⁴ On two occasions in August and September 2008, Ramos admitted membership in Varrio Bakers to officers. On both occasions his admission was equivocal, and on only one of those occasions was he in

⁴ The expert spoke to one officer regarding one of the four field checks, and the other was involved in the current case. (9RT 2382.)

the presence of another Varrio Bakers member. (9RT 2387-2388, 2467, 2469-2471, 2491.) He told an officer he had never been jumped into the gang. (9RT 2470.) On the other two occasions in February and March 2011, he was simply in the presence of the girlfriend of a Varrio Bakers member. (9RT 2388, 2471-2473.) On five occasions during custodial bookings, Ramos has claimed the need to be kept away from Nortenos. (9RT 2389-2390.) On those occasions, he was asked if he either "belonged" to a gang or "associated with" gang members. (9RT 2446.)⁵

The gang expert opined that Varrio Bakers and Varrio West Side
Shafter were Sureno criminal street gangs. (9RT 2356-2359, 2363-2367.)
In closing argument, the prosecutor argued the gang to which all the
defendants belonged was the Sureno gang that covered the area from
Delano to San Diego.⁶ (9BRT 2600:169-171.)

Gutierrez and Enriquez were convicted by a jury of attempted premeditated murder (Pen. Code, secs. 664/187, subd. (a), sec. 189 - Count 1)⁷, assault with a firearm (sec. 245, subd. (a) - Count 2), and active

⁵ See People v. Elizalde (2015) 61 Cal.4th 523.

⁶ See People v. Prunty (2015) 62 Cal.4th 59.

⁷ Hereafter all statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise indicated.

participation in a criminal street gang (sec. 186.22, subd. (a) - Count 3), together with a section 12022.53, firearm enhancement (subds. (d) and (e)(1)) as to Count 1, and a section 186.22, subdivision (b)(1) gang enhancement as to Counts 1 and 2. (2CT 431-432, 437-438, 443-444; 10RT 2628-2632.) Ramos was only found guilty of Count 3. (2CT 522-84, 671; 10RT 2626.) With the jury deadlocking on Counts 1 and 2 as to Ramos, the court declared a mistrial as to those counts. (3CT 584, 671; 10RT 2626.)

After consolidating the appeals of Ramos, Ramirez and Gutierrez, the Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment in all respects in an unpublished opinion dated January 31, 2015.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT OF APPEAL ERRED BECAUSE IT ADOPTED THE TRIAL COURT'S ERRONEOUS REASONING IN DENYING THE WHEELER/BATSON MOTIONS AND BECAUSE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE WAS LACKING TO SUPPORT THE FINDING OF NO DISCRIMINATORY INTENT.

Employing the *Wheeler/Batson* burden-shfiting process, the trial court found a prima facie case of discrimination but denied the appellants' motions after ordering the prosecutor to explain the bases for his peremptory challenges. (5ART 1070-1074.) Because the prosecutor

presented race neutral justifications, the issue here only concerns the trial court's analysis of the genuineness of the prosecutor's explanations.

A. The Burden-Shifting Inquiry When Challenging the Prosecutor's Peremptory Challenges of Members of Cognizable Groups.

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