## In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

RAMIRO ENRIQUEZ, et al.

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S224724

SUPREME COURT

JUL - 5 2016

Appellate District Fifth, Case No. F065288 Kern County Superior Court, Case No. BF137853B The Honorable Michael E. Dellostritto, Judge Frank A. McGuire Clerk

### PEOPLE'S ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

Gutierrez argues that the prosecutor failed to explain how Ms. 2510083's lack of life experience was relevant to the issues of the case. (GOB 43.) The prosecutor must demonstrate that the peremptory challenges were exercised on grounds that were reasonably relevant to the particular case on trial or its parties or witnesses. (Wheeler, supra, 22 Cal.3d at p. 282.) Here, the juror's lack of life experience may have been a detriment to this complex, attempted murder case involving three codefendants and gang allegations. Additionally, a high-ranking ex-gang member, Trevino, would be testifying for the prosecution and providing information as to the workings of the Sureño criminal street gang. The prosecutor reasonably could have determined that Ms. 2510083's lack of life experience would make her not well suited to sit on such a complex and serious case.

Gutierrez argues that the prosecutor's stated reason that there was a lack of sophistication in the answers given by Ms. 2510083 was not clear and reasonably specific and can be a proxy for discrimination. (GOB 44.) However, Ms. 2510083's answers reveal that she had never served on a jury, was not married, and had no children. (4 ART 818-819.) Her job as an instructional aid was about to conclude, and she had no further work. (2 ART 388-389.) This information supports the conclusion of the prosecutor

that this prospective juror may not be experienced or knowledgeable about various aspects of life. The record adequately supports the prosecutor's opinion of this juror. Limited life experience and immaturity are neutral reasons supporting a peremptory challenge. (See *People v. Sims* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 405, 431; *People v. Neuman* (2009) 176 Cal.App.4th 571, 581; *People v. Perez* (1994) 29 Cal.App.4th 1313, 1328.)

Gutierrez cites to McGahee v. Alabama Dept of Corrections (11th Cir 2009) 560 F.3d 1252, 1265, but the case does not assist him. (GOB 44.) In that case, the State of Alabama had proffered as an explanation that it removed multiple African-American jurors because of their "low intelligence" when the intelligence of the jurors was unsupported by any evidence in the record. (Ibid.) The prosecutor in this case at no time challenged Ms. 2510083's intelligence. The case does not further Gutierrez's argument.

# D. The Trial Court Conducted a Proper Third-Step Inquiry of the Prosecutor's Stated Reasons

Gutierrez argues that, because the reasons provided by the prosecutor were implausible and failed comparative analysis, the trial court erred by accepting them at face value without an individualized third-step *Batson* inquiry. (GOB 45-47.) However, Gutierrez's argument depends on two faulty premises: (1) that the trial court rejected the prosecutor's stated reasoning that Ms. 2510083 lacked life experience; and (2) that the trial court denied the *Batson* motion based on "other reasons" which were not stated by the prosecutor. As explained in the preceding arguments, the trial court did not reject the prosecutor's reasons for excusing Ms. 2510083. While the trial court acknowledged that Ms. 2861675 was "young," and "perhaps having a lack of life experience," in comparing Ms. 2510083 with seated juror No. 2861675, the trial court found that there were other reasons given by the prosecutor to be valid, such as a lack of sophistication in her

voir dire responses. Limited life experience and immaturity are neutral reasons supporting a peremptory challenge. (People v. Sims, supra, 5 Cal.4th at pp. 429-430; *People v. Perez, supra*, 29 Cal.App.4th at p. 1328.) "A prospective juror may be excused based upon facial expressions, gestures, hunches, and even for arbitrary or idiosyncratic reasons." (Lenix, supra, 44 Cal.4th at p. 613.) Certainly a lack of life experience and lack of sophistication are stronger, more valid reasons for excusing a juror than a hunch. Thus, the trial court analyzed the prosecutor's reasons of lack of life experience and lack of sophistication in this prospective juror's voir dire answers and determined that the explanations provided by the prosecutor were genuine. Neither of the prosecutor's stated reasons were implausible or suggestive of bias. Lack of experience and youth are accepted reasons based on sound trial strategy for excusing a prospective juror. A potential juror's youth and apparent immaturity are race-neutral reasons that can support a peremptory challenge. As the Supreme Court observed in *Rice v*. Collins (2006) 546 U.S. 333, 341, it is not unreasonable for a prosecutor to believe a young person with few ties to the community might be less willing than an older, more permanent resident to impose a substantial penalty." (People v. Lomax (2010) 49 Cal.4th 530, 575.) The trial court's analysis and ruling on the Batson/Wheeler motion indicate that it accepted as reasonable and genuine the prosecutor's stated reasons for excusing this juror after making a sincere and reasoned attempt to evaluate the proffered reasons.

# VII. THE COURT OF APPEAL PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANTS' BATSON/WHEELER MOTION AS TO MR. 2291529

Enriquez argues that the prosecutor's stated reasons for excusing Mr. 2291529 were pretextual because this juror stated in voir dire that he harbored no ill will toward the Sheriff's Office and because the fact relied on by the prosecutor – that this juror's brother had died – had occurred over

twenty years earlier. (EOB 33-34.) The prosecutor exercised a peremptory challenge against this juror because the juror appeared to be more affected by a recent law enforcement encounter than by his brother's death from a bar fight which had occurred years earlier and which the potential juror could not say had been adequately investigated. (5 ART 1059.) The disproportionate nature of his answers caused the prosecutor concern. As pointed out above, a negative experience with the criminal justice system is a valid nondiscriminatory reason for excusing a juror. (People v. Calvin (2008) 159 Cal.App.4th 1377, 1386-1387.) Moreover, a prospective juror's statement that the juror could be fair despite legitimate reasons for excusing the juror does not invalidate the otherwise legitimate factor. (See People v. Watson, supra, 43 Cal.4th at pp. 679-680; People v. Williams, supra, 16 Cal.4th at p. 191.) The prosecutor reasonably could have concluded that this juror may view law enforcement with distrust based on their failure to adequately investigate his brother's case. Enriquez points out that this potential juror's brother had been killed twenty years earlier while the most recent interaction with law enforcement was two years prior, inferring that the juror's emotional reactions were not cause for concern and not a valid, race-neutral reason for excusing the juror. (EOB 33-34.) On the contrary, the prosecutor reasonably could have been concerned that this juror's reaction to the recent encounter with law enforcement demonstrated he in fact did not trust police officers and would be biased against them.

# VIII. ALTHOUGH THE COURT OF APPEAL SHOULD HAVE CONDUCTED COMPARATIVE JUROR ANALYSIS, SUCH ANALYSIS DOES NOT DEMONSTRATE THAT THE PROSECUTOR ENGAGED IN PURPOSEFUL DISCRIMINATION

Enriquez and Ramos argue that the Court of Appeal erred in refusing to undertake comparative analysis as directed by this Court in *Lenix*, *supra*, 44 Cal.4th at p. 622. (EOB 37-39; ROB 49-50.) Respondent agrees.

#### A. Factual Background

At trial, counsel for Gutierrez challenged the prosecutor's reasoning and attempted to engage in some comparative juror analysis. (5 ART 1062-1066.) Counsel pointed out that while Ms. 2510083 had family members who were serving time in prison, the prosecutor passed on another prospective juror, Ms. 2589394, who also had family members serving time. (5 ART 1064-1065.) Counsel for Enriquez also encouraged the trial court to examine the challenged jurors with those sitting on the jury currently. (5 ART 1067.) He compared the challenged jurors with those left on the panel who had contact with gangs. (*Ibid.*) For instance, Mr. 2861675, who is white, had prior exposure to gangs but remained on the jury. (*Ibid.*) Similarly, Mr. 2546044 and Mr. 2581097 had exposure to gangs which put them in the same category as those Hispanics who had been exposed to gang activity. (5 ART 1068.) Furthermore, Ms. 2674226 had no prior jury service but was retained on the jury while some Hispanic jurors were challenged on the grounds that they lacked experience. (*Ibid.*)

The prosecutor responded by distinguishing the extent and nature of the exposure to gang activity experienced by some sitting jurors, such as Mr. 2581907, who volunteered in the state prison and taught gang members. (5 ART 1069.) This was different from the exposure of Ms. 2632053, who was immersed in gangs from age 13 to 19. (*Ibid.*) Likewise, seated juror Mr. 2861675 had exposure to gang activity which was limited to his quitting his job after observing 30 people get into a fight at an apartment complex where he was a watchman. (*Ibid.*) The prosecutor argued that he exercised peremptory challenges to each of the jurors at

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Counsel for Gutierrez discussed Mr. 2608698, a juror not among those either challenged or seated. (5 ART 1063.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Ms. 2589394 had been excused by the defense the day before and therefore was not a sitting juror. (4 ART 929.)

issue for nonracial reasons and that the facts in the record supported his challenges. (5 ART 1069-1070.) The trial court in turn responded to the comparative analysis arguments both generally and by specifically comparing some of the challenged jurors to sitting juror No. 2861675. (5 ART 1072-1073.)

On appeal, the Court of Appeal declined to conduct a comparative juror analysis. (Slip Opinion at p. 14.)

# B. The Court of Appeal, Unlike the Trial Court, Failed to Engage in Comparative Juror Analysis

On a claim of race-based peremptory challenges, comparative juror analysis compares the voir dire responses of the challenged prospective jurors with those of similar jurors who were not members of the challenged jurors' racial group, whom the prosecutor did not challenge. (Miller-El, supra, 545 U.S. at p. 241 ["If a prosecutor's proffered reason for striking a black panelist applies just as well to an otherwise-similar nonblack who is permitted to serve, that is evidence tending to prove purposeful discrimination to be considered at Batson's third step."].) "Comparative juror analysis is evidence that, while subject to inherent limitations, must be considered when reviewing claims of error at [Batson/Wheeler]'s third stage when the defendant relies on such evidence and the record is adequate to permit the comparisons." (Lenix, supra, 44 Cal.4th at p. 607.) "In those circumstances, comparative juror analysis must be performed on appeal even when such an analysis was not conducted below." (Ibid.) The analysis involves comparing jurors excused by the prosecutor to other seated jurors rather than to prospective jurors. (Miller-El, supra, 545 U.S. at p. 241.)

When a defendant asks for comparative juror analysis for the first time on appeal, this Court has held that "such evidence will be considered in view of the deference accorded the trial court's ultimate finding of no discriminatory intent." (*Lenix, supra*, 44 Cal.4th at p. 624.) "[A]n appellate court must be mindful that an exploration of the alleged similarities at the time of trial might have shown that the jurors in question were not really comparable." (*Snyder, supra*, 552 U.S. at p. 483.) "[C]omparative juror analysis is but one form of circumstantial evidence that is relevant, but not necessarily dispositive, on the issue of intentional discrimination." (*Lenix, supra*, 44 Cal.4th at p. 622.) This is true because

[o]n appellate review, a voir dire answer sits on a page of transcript. In the trial court, however, advocates and trial judges watch and listen as the answer is delivered. Myriad subtle nuances may shape it, including attitude, attention, interest, body language, facial expression and eye contact. 'Even an inflection in the voice can make a difference in the meaning.'

(Ibid.)

Although the trial court engaged in some comparative juror analysis in denying appellants' motion, the Court of Appeal declined to undertake such a comparison when it should have.

## C. Comparative Juror Analysis Does Not Demonstrate the Prosecutor Engaged In Purposeful Discrimination

Even taking into consideration the comparative evidence and analyzing such evidence in light of the totality of the circumstances in this case, appellants cannot meet their burden to establish purposeful discrimination as set forth more fully herein. A comparative juror analysis in this case does not demonstrate the prosecutor engaged in purposeful discrimination.

#### 1. Ms. 2510083

Enriquez compares Ms. 2510083, who the prosecutor excused based in part on his belief that she asked to be removed based on a hardship, with seated Juror No. 2719513, who requested a hardship based on the fact that

she was a tennis coach and her team made the playoffs but remained on the jury. (EOB 40-41.) The problem with this comparison is that the prosecutor mistakenly believed that Ms. 2510083 had asked to be excused from jury service. (See Argument VI.B., *ante.*) However, an examination of the record reveals that this particular juror did not ask to be released from jury service as a result of a hardship. She did bring a possible conflict, a pending work interview, to the attention of the court. The court suggested that she attempt to reschedule the interview which the juror was ultimately able to do. As such, Ms. 2510083 is not similarly situated to Juror No. 2719513, who did seek to be excused from the jury for hardship.

The question then becomes whether a comparative juror analysis involving Ms. 2719513 is appropriate, considering that this juror was not even called into the jury box for questioning until after the trial court heard and denied appellants' motion. (5 ART 1076.) As this Court stated in Lenix, "appellate review is necessarily circumscribed. . . . [T]he trial court's finding is reviewed on the record as it stands at the time the [Batson/Wheeler] ruling is made." (Lenix, supra, 44 Cal.4th at p. 624.) "If the defendant believes that subsequent events should be considered by the trial court, a renewed objection is required to permit appellate consideration of these subsequent developments." (Ibid.) Therefore, if appellants believed that the voir dire of this juror (excepting her hardship request which occurred prior to the Batson/Wheeler motion) should be considered by the trial court, they could have, and should have, renewed their Batson/Wheeler motion. Appellants did not do this. As a result, any reliance on this juror's voir dire responses occurring after the Batson/Wheeler motion was denied is forfeited. (Chism, supra, 58 Cal.4th at p. 1319.)

Nevertheless, even if the responses of Ms. 2719513 are taken into consideration, they demonstrate that the prosecutor's stated reasons for

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